No. 86406

IN THE NEVADA SUPREME COUR Electronically Filed Sep 13 2023 11:14 AM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Troy White,

Appellant,

v.

State of Nevada, et al.,

Respondents.

On Appeal from the Order Denying Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) Eighth Judicial District, Clark County (CR A-22-859004-W) Honorable Bita Yeager, District Court Judge

Petitioner-Appellant's Opening Brief

Rene L. Valladares Federal Public Defender, District of Nevada * Laura Barrera Assistant Federal Public Defender 411 E. Bonneville Ave., Ste. 250 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 388-6577 Laura_Barrera@fd.org

*Counsel for Troy White

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the final order denying Troy White's petition for writ of habeas corpus filed September 27, 2022. The court filed the Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order on March 16, 2023. Troy White timely filed a notice of appeal on April 12, 2023.

This Court has jurisdiction under Nev. Rev. Stat. § 34.575.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Under Nev. R. App. P. 17(b)(1), this case is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because it involves convictions of Category A and B felonies. Additionally, White argues, in part, that the Nevada Supreme Court should revisit and overrule its precedent in *Brown v. McDaniel*, 130 Nev. 565 (2014); therefore, White requests that the Nevada Supreme Court retain the case.³

¹ X.App.1828-1848.

² X.App.1888-1899.

³ This Court previously denied a request to consolidate this matter with case nos. 85519, 85881, & 86366, but indicated the appeals would be "clustered to ensure that they are resolved in a consistent and efficient manner."

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Court should overrule *Brown v. McDaniel*, 130 Nev. 565, 331 P.3d 867 (2014), and find post-conviction counsel's ineffectiveness can serve as good cause to overcome the procedural bars to White's petition.
- 2. Whether White received ineffective assistance of trial counsel in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. State Trial Court Proceedings

Troy White shot and killed his wife, Echo Lucas, on July 27, 2012, in the heat of passion. He also shot Lucas's lover and White's former close friend, Joseph Averman, who survived. On December 11, 2012, White was charged in a criminal complaint with burglary while in the possession of a firearm, murder with the use of a deadly weapon, attempted murder with the use of a deadly weapon, carrying a concealed firearm, and multiple counts of child abuse, neglect, or endangerment because White's children were home at the time of the shooting. After a preliminary hearing held on December 12, 2012, the State filed an Information on December 27, 2012, charging White with the same counts listed in the amended complaint, except only one child abuse count per child.

After a successful pretrial writ challenging the burglary charge because White was in his own home, *State v. White*, 330 P.3d 482 (Nev. 2014), White proceeded to trial on the remaining counts in April 2015.

⁴ See, e.g., VIII.App.1493-1524; I.App.06.

⁵ I.App.01.

White was represented by Scott Coffee and David Lopez-Negrete. The trial lasted for seven days. The State argued White acted with premeditation and deliberation. The defense countered that the State could only prove voluntary manslaughter. The key issue was the presence of a sufficient provocation for manslaughter instead of malice required for a murder conviction. *See* Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 200.040, 200.050, 200.060.

On April 17, 2015, the jury found White guilty of second-degree murder and guilty on the remaining counts. On July 20, 2015, the court sentenced White to ten years to life on the murder count with a consecutive term of seventy-six to one hundred and ninety-two months for the weapon enhancement; seventy-six to one hundred and ninety-two months on the attempted murder count with a consecutive and equivalent term for the weapon enhancement, consecutive to the murder count; a concurrent nineteen to forty-eight months on the concealed weapon count; and twenty-four to sixty months on each child abuse count with one count running consecutively to the other counts, and the rest

⁶ VIII.App.1558.

running concurrently.⁷ This is a total of thirty-one years to life imprisonment.⁸ Judgment was entered on July 24, 2015.⁹

B. Direct Appeal

White timely appealed the judgment of conviction. The Nevada Supreme Court docketed the appeal as case number 68632. One of the claims raised by the defense was that the court erred in failing to instruct that the provocation causing heat of passion can take place over a period. The Nevada Supreme Court issued its Order of Affirmance on April 26, 2017. See White v. State, No. 68632. The court ruled there was no basis in Nevada law for a prolonged provocation instruction. Id. Remittitur was issued on May 22, 2017. Id.

C. State Post-Conviction Proceedings

White's timely petition for post-conviction relief was filed on April 24, 2018, by Jesse Folkestad of Christopher Oram's office. ¹⁰ Oram raised

⁷ VIII.App.1582.

⁸ The judgment of conviction erroneously listed the aggregate term as thirty-four years to life. An amended judgment was later filed on February 5, 2016, removing the aggregation language.

⁹ VIII.App.1582.

¹⁰ VIII.App.1585.

six claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, and one claim of cumulative error. None of the claims raised questioned trial counsel's failure to make a viable argument for voluntary manslaughter even though the defense at trial was to argue for a conviction of voluntary manslaughter in lieu of murder. The petition was denied on April 13, 2021. Notice of entry was filed on April 15, 2021.

Oram timely appealed and raised the same issues presented to the district court. See White v. State, No. 82798-COA. The Nevada Court of Appeals affirmed the district court's denial of White's post-conviction petition on February 3, 2022. Id. Remittitur issued on February 28, 2022.

D. Instant State Post-Conviction Proceedings

White filed a second/successive petition for post-conviction writ of habeas corpus on September 27, 2022.¹⁴ In his petition he raised one claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel based on trial counsel's failure to present a legally and factually viable argument to support the

¹¹ VIII.App.1585; VIII.App.1593-1624.

¹² IX.App.1770-1794.

¹³ IX.App.1795.

¹⁴ X.App.1828-1848.

defense theory that White was guilty of only voluntary manslaughter, not first or second-degree murder. ¹⁵ White argued that he had good cause to overcome the procedural bars to this petition due to his post-conviction counsel's ineffectiveness.

On March 16, 2023, the district court denied the petition on procedural grounds, finding that the petition was procedurally barred, and that White could not establish good cause to overcome the procedural default. In denying the petition, the court relied on this Court's decision in *Brown v. McDaniel*, 130 Nev. 565 (2014) to hold that ineffectiveness of post-conviction counsel in a non-capital case may not constitute good cause. *Id.* at 569. The court did not reach the issue of prejudice to White due to the finding that White could not establish good cause to overcome the procedural bars. Notice of entry was issued on March 20, 2023. White filed a timely notice of appeal on April 12, 2023.

¹⁵ X.App.1828-1848.

¹⁶ X.App.1888-1899.

¹⁷ X.App.1897.

¹⁸ X.App.1900.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The Evidence at Trial Supported a Theory of Voluntary Manslaughter under Nevada Law

In the months leading up to the shooting, White and Lucas were going through marital problems. This led to a separation in the summer of 2012.¹⁹ Despite the separation, White continued to support his family and paid the mortgage on the family home.²⁰ He also paid the family's bills. Lucas did not work.²¹ The couple had five children together.²² During the separation, the children stayed at the house, with the parents moving in and out. Lucas stayed at the house during the week, and White stayed on weekends.²³

Unbeknownst to White, his wife had started a romantic relationship with Averman in early 2012.²⁴ Averman and White met

¹⁹ VI.App.1036-1038.

²⁰ VI.App.1074-1075.

²¹ V.App.903-904.

²² See e.g., IV.App.540. Lucas brought two children to the relationship, and the couple had three more. The elder children referred to White as their father, and White treated them as his own. (See VI.App.1101.)

²³ VI.App.1041.

²⁴ VI.App.1038-1039; VII.App.1367.

more than a decade earlier while the two were attending the Potter's House Church.²⁵ White and Averman quickly became close friends.²⁶ Averman was much younger than White.²⁷ He was in the Army National Guard and had talked to White about his military training.²⁸ Averman got divorced in April 2012.²⁹ Before Averman's divorce, Averman and his wife spent a great deal of time with Lucas and White.³⁰ Eventually White became aware of the relationship between his longtime friend and his wife, and the Whites separated.³¹

Shortly after the separation, Averman began staying the night at the White family home.³² White was understandably upset about the situation, but when Lucas and Averman started looking for a new place to live, White convinced them not to. He thought it would be easier for

²⁵ VI.App.1030.

²⁶ VI.App.1032.

²⁷ VI.App.1081.

²⁸ VI.App.1083-1084.

²⁹ VI.App.1031.

³⁰ VI.App.1033.

³¹ See, e.g., VI.App.1068; VII.App.1360.

³² VI.App.1039-1040.

the children if they stayed at the house.³³ Averman quit his job after beginning his relationship with Lucas.³⁴ Because neither Lucas nor Averman were employed, White was responsible for all of the expenses.³⁵ During the week, White bunked on an air mattress in the living room of a friend from the Potter's House Church, Herman Allen.³⁶

Facebook messages in the weeks leading up to the shooting reveal White's displeasure and frustration with the situation.³⁷ Witnesses agreed, however, that he desperately wanted his family back.³⁸ Then, in the days leading up the shooting, there was hope. Texts between White and Lucas reveal that they discussed reconciliation. Four days before the shooting, Lucas texted White pictures of their children and broken hearts. She asked him to talk to her.³⁹ The next day, Tuesday, she asked

³³ VI.App.1042-1043.

³⁴ VI.App.132.

³⁵ V.App.903-904.

³⁶ VI.App.1152-1153.

³⁷ II.App.277-282.

³⁸ VI.App.1069, 1157; VII.App.1218.

³⁹ I.App.35.

him to talk with her the following day. 40 Later texts make clear the two talked on the Wednesday before the Friday shooting. 41 It is clear from later messages that Lucas promised White reconciliation with the family he wanted so desperately. 42 Allen testified White told him he wanted to reunite with Lucas and it was promising that they would. 43 The night before the shooting, White also wrote to a friend on Facebook that Lucas had told him the day before that she wanted their marriage and family back. He conveyed that he also wanted to get back together. Lucas, however, asked for more time before this could happen. 44 The text messages between White and Lucas also make it clear that Lucas was not moving quickly enough to remove Averman from their lives so that they could return to being a family, causing White frustration. 45

⁴⁰ I.App.35.

⁴¹ I.App.33.

⁴² I.App.33.

⁴³ VI.App.1157.

⁴⁴ II.App.282.

⁴⁵ I.App.20-41.

The day before the shooting, White texted Lucas, "Sorry. Love you. Jus[t] want us back."⁴⁶ She responded, "You don't know her like I do. It's a country song kinda reminds me of us. Have u heard it[?]"⁴⁷ Later, he wrote, "I wish you wanted to be together this weekend. Goodbye [E]cho until you finally make a decision. Hopefully after today you still want all y[o]u said u did yesterday. Its still here waiting for you. I love you."⁴⁸ He then asked her to go out with him that weekend, but she said she could not because she was busy.⁴⁹ He wrote, "I love you," then "Hopefully," and "Goodnight" at about 5:00 p.m.⁵⁰

White continued to reach out to Lucas throughout the night while she was up braiding her hair and the next morning.⁵¹ He expressed hope she still wanted to reconcile, like she had told him, but consternation that she requested more time with Averman first.⁵² The messages over time

⁴⁶ I.App.33.

⁴⁷ I.App.33.

⁴⁸ I.App.33.

⁴⁹ I.App.32.

⁵⁰ I.App.32.

⁵¹ See I.App.20-32; VI.App.1044-1045.

⁵² I.App.30-31.

shifted between anger and expressions of love. He urged her to stop delaying their reconciliation.⁵³ For example, White wrote:

Please call me w[h]en you can. I wanna gv u my heart. I love you echo sweetie. Please please stop seeing him if you want us back. Please you have to. Please. It will never work if you wont let him go...please. please I am beggin you. For 1 last time. I'm being totally honest. I can't handle this anymore. Honestly. I'm asking u to please stop seeing him. Immediately. If u want me back this is it. I can't keep doin this. I'm going insane. I love you soooooo much.⁵⁴

After growing frustration that Lucas would not speak to him and promise to leave Averman right away,⁵⁵ White told Lucas he would come over to the house to meet with Averman.⁵⁶ White's anger escalated,⁵⁷ but then his tone shifted, and he asked, "Do you still want back so since you talked about on Wednesday" [sic].⁵⁸ He explained that his vitriol came from his frustration that Lucas was delaying their reconciliation.⁵⁹

⁵³ I.App.27-30.

⁵⁴ I.App.27-28.

⁵⁵ I.App.23-27.

⁵⁶ I.App.23.

⁵⁷ I.App.20-23.

⁵⁸ I.App.20.

⁵⁹ I.App.20.

The shooting occurred that day, on Friday. White's boss testified that during this period, White was coming into work at about 3:00 or 4:00 in the morning because he was having trouble sleeping.⁶⁰ His usual shift started at 5:00 a.m.⁶¹ White would routinely come to the family home on Friday afternoon to take care of the children for the weekend.⁶² Allen, with whom White was living during the week, explained that White would leave for work on Friday morning and not return to Allen's home until Sunday evening.⁶³ Usually, White would get to the family home around 3:00 or 4:00 p.m. on Fridays.⁶⁴ On the day of the shooting, he arrived shortly before noon.⁶⁵ That morning, White went to work early and so left early.⁶⁶ White and his wife shared a single vehicle, which was left at the house for use in caring for the children.⁶⁷ During the week,

⁶⁰ V.App.934-935.

⁶¹ V.App.934.

⁶² VI.App.1041, 1050.

⁶³ VI.App.1151.

⁶⁴ VI.App.1050.

⁶⁵ VI.App.1048.

⁶⁶ V.App.936.

⁶⁷ VI.App.1041-1042.

White was without a car and ether had to walk to the family home or take the bus.⁶⁸ That morning, White took a bus to his home.⁶⁹

Averman and two of White's children testified about the events of that day. White was not agitated when he arrived.⁷⁰ White asked Lucas to speak with him, and she told him to return later. White then asked Averman if he and Lucas could have five minutes alone, and they went into a back bedroom.⁷¹ Averman went into the master bedroom.⁷²

At first, everything was quiet. Then, Averman testified he heard Lucas say, "Troy, no, just stop."⁷³ One son testified that he heard raised voices in the back bedroom.⁷⁴ The second son testified he heard Lucas say, "No, please stop, I won't go with Joe again."⁷⁵ The shots happened

⁶⁸ VI.App.1087.

⁶⁹ V.App.837.

⁷⁰ III.App.501; IV.App.580; VI.App.1077.

⁷¹ VI.App.1050-1051.

⁷² VI.App.1052.

⁷³ VI.App.1053.

⁷⁴ III.App.502.

⁷⁵ IV.App.570.

quickly afterward.⁷⁶ Averman testified that White's demeanor at the time of the shooting had completely changed. He was upset and "to some extent irrational."⁷⁷ Only seconds passed between Lucas being shot and Averman being shot.⁷⁸ The whole incident was over in a matter of a few seconds.⁷⁹

After the shooting, Averman described White as confused, going in and out of the room Averman was in.⁸⁰ White tried to usher his children into a bedroom so they would not see what had happened.⁸¹ White took a cell phone from Averman but initially had problems placing a call to 911.⁸² Averman heard White saying he could not get the phone to work.⁸³ At approximately 11:50 a.m., the oldest child called 911.⁸⁴ White was able

⁷⁶ IV.App.585.

⁷⁷ VI.App.1095-1096.

⁷⁸ VI.App.1058.

⁷⁹ VI.App.1058.

⁸⁰ VI.App.1096.

⁸¹ III.App.503; VI.App.1060.

⁸² VI.App.1072.

⁸³ VI.App.1072.

⁸⁴ VII.App.1199.

to call 911 and ask for medical services about three minutes later.⁸⁵ The sirens could be heard very quickly thereafter.⁸⁶ A neighbor testified that he saw White come out of the house hysterical and desperate. He then got into the car in the driveway.⁸⁷

White left and drove to Prescott, Arizona, birthplace of the Potter's House Church. 88 During the drive to Arizona, White called Allen and told him what had happened. 89 Having previously heard about the shooting, Allen had been trying to call White and was worried that White would commit suicide. 90 When Allen told White that Lucas had died and Averman was in the hospital, White broke down in tears. 91 He had previously asked how Lucas and Averman were doing. 92 Allen described

⁸⁵ VII.App.1199.

⁸⁶ VI.App.1073.

⁸⁷ IV.App.676, 683.

⁸⁸ V.App.832.

⁸⁹ VI.App.1163-1165.

⁹⁰ VI.App.1162, 1176-1177.

⁹¹ VI.App.1166-1167.

⁹² VI.App.1166.

White as confused during their conversations.93

In Prescott, a crying White turned himself in without incident.⁹⁴ It had been only a few hours since the shooting.⁹⁵ White told the police in Prescott, "She needs help. We need to do something. She needs help."⁹⁶ He then started to cry and asked to see a counselor or psychiatrist.⁹⁷ He was taken into custody.⁹⁸

B. Defense Counsel Presented Legally and Factually Unsupported Arguments for Voluntary Manslaughter

Because the defense theory was that the State could only prove voluntary manslaughter and not first or second-degree murder, the dispositive issue of the trial was whether the shooting was the result of an adequate provocation as opposed to malice.⁹⁹ The defense requested a jury instruction saying the provocation "can occur over either a long or

⁹³ VI.App.1177-1178.

⁹⁴ IV.App.730, 737.

⁹⁵ V.App.831-832.

⁹⁶ IV.App.737.

⁹⁷ IV.App.737.

⁹⁸ IV.App.734.

⁹⁹ See e.g., VIII.App.1512-1523.

short period of time and may be the result of an ongoing series of events."¹⁰⁰ Defense counsel acknowledged there were no Nevada cases supporting the request.¹⁰¹ In fact, Nevada law foreclosed the concept of prolonged provocation. *See* Nev. Rev. Stat. § 200.060 ("[I]f there should appear to have been an interval between the assault or provocation given and the killing, sufficient for the voice of reason and humanity to be heard, the killing shall be attributed to deliberate revenge and punished as murder."). The court rejected the instruction.¹⁰²

The defense therefore needed to identify a specific provocation and argue the State had not disproven it beyond a reasonable doubt. The defense argued that White went to the house the day of the shooting to kick Averman out of the home so that he and Lucas could reconcile. 103 Lucas tried to stop White, and the three ended up in the hallway. 104

¹⁰⁰ VIII.App.1443.

¹⁰¹ VIII.App.1443.

¹⁰² VIII.App.1444. Defense counsel, who also served as appellate counsel, continued to pursue this theory on appeal. It was likewise rejected by this Court. (*See White v. State*, No. 68632.)

¹⁰³ See e.g., VIII.App.1521.

¹⁰⁴ VIII.App.1522.

Counsel then identified the provoking incident: "When Averman decides to interject himself into the conversation and he sees Averman coming out the door that is a highly provoking injury, that is a injury of the most highly provoking type. . . . It's the first time he's seen Joe since the betrayal." 105

The defense offered no theory as to what happened in the room between White and Lucas that would have prompted such an extreme reaction such that the jury would have reasonable doubt White acted with malice. The State took advantage of this gap in the defense theory

So I have to ask you something. What set Troy White off on July 27th, 2012? Do you have any idea? Do you have any idea what was said or done inside that room just before he pulled out that gun and shot and killed Echo Lucas? . . . You don't know what the provoking event is. 106

Then in rebuttal the prosecution argued:

That's not sudden heat of passion. They'd been separated for months, he'd known about Joe since early June, Joe moved in in late June. His text messages will show you that he knew when Joe was over at that house. This wasn't a secret then. And he wasn't surprised to find Joe at that house

¹⁰⁵ VIII.App.1522-1523.

¹⁰⁶ VIII.App.1476.

that morning. That's also abundantly clear from the text messages leading up to the murder. "I know Joe's there. Why won't you just send him away so we can talk." He knew what he was going to find when he went to that house. 107

The defense failed to provide an answer to the question of what "set Troy White off" and what happened between White and Lucas. Some of that evidence was already before the jury. White was not agitated when he arrived at the house. When he and Lucas went to speak in a bedroom, their voices were not raised. Then, one of White's children testified he heard Lucas say, "No, please stop, I won't go with Joe again" and that the shots happened quickly afterward. The State even recognized this evidence:

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