IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TROY WHITE,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Sep 26 2023 03:09 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Case No. 86406

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Second Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

LAURA BARRERA Nevada Bar #14320C Assistant Federal Public Defender 411 E. Bonneville Ave., Ste. 250 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 388-6577 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

First, the District Court properly dismissed the Second Petition as procedurally barred. Appellant's Ground One was appropriate and available for direct appeal. Since he did not raise Ground One on direct appeal, it is waived. The Second Petition is time-barred because it was not filed until September 27, 2022. This was over five years after remittitur issued from Appellant's direct appeal on May 22, 2017, and over four years after his one-year deadline to file a habeas petition. The State effectively pleads laches because the State is prejudiced in its ability to respond to the petition due to the passage of time since Appellant's trial. Appellant's petition is an abuse of writ because he raises a new ground for relief in a successive habeas petition.

Second, <u>Brown v. McDaniel</u>, 130 Nev. 565, 331 P.3d 867 (2014), should not be overruled in light of the Supreme Court's recent decision in <u>Shinn v. Ramirez</u>, 142 S. Ct. 1718 (2022). The Nevada Supreme Court has consistently held that there is no right to assistance of post-conviction counsel for noncapital prisoners. <u>Brown</u> 130 Nev. at 569, 331 P.3d at 870; <u>McKague v. Whitley</u>, 112 Nev. 159, 164-65, 912 P.2d 255, 258 (1996). Further, even if Appellant had a right to effective postconviction counsel, his allegations of ineffectiveness thereof are also procedurally barred.

Third, even if this Court overrules <u>Brown</u>, Appellant cannot demonstrate good cause and actual prejudice to overcome the procedural bars. Appellant fails to explain why the new evidence in his declaration would not have been reasonably available earlier in his case. Additionally, post-conviction counsel was effective in raising five grounds during Appellant's first habeas proceeding. Appellant cannot demonstrate prejudice by his trial counsel because trial counsel made specific strategic decisions and accurately stated the law on voluntary manslaughter. Therefore, this Court should affirm the District Court's denial of Appellant's Second Petition.

///

9

ARGUMENT

This Court reviews the district court's application of the law de novo and gives deference to a district court's factual findings in habeas matters. <u>State v. Huebler</u>, 128 Nev. 192, 197, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012), <u>cert. denied</u>, 133 S. Ct. 988 (2013). A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact that is subject to independent review. However, a district court's factual findings will be given deference by this Court on appeal, so long as they are supported by substantial evidence and are not clearly wrong. <u>Lader v. Warden</u>, 121 Nev. 682, 686, 120 P.3d 1164, 1166 (2005). While this Court gives deference to the district court's factual findings if supported by substantial evidence and not clearly erroneous, this Court reviews the district court's application of the law to those facts de novo. <u>Id</u>.

I. APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ARE PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

a. Application of the Procedural Bars is Mandatory.

The Nevada Supreme Court has granted no discretion to the district courts regarding whether to apply statutory procedural bars. Instead, the Nevada Supreme Court has emphatically and repeatedly stated that the procedural bars *must* be applied.

The district courts have *a duty* to consider whether post-conviction claims are procedurally barred. <u>State v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct. (Riker)</u>, 121 Nev. 225, 234, 112 P.3d 1070, 1076 (2005). <u>Riker held that the procedural bars "cannot be ignored when</u>

properly raised by the State." <u>Id.</u> at 233, 112 P.3d at 1075; <u>accord</u>, <u>State v. Huebler</u>, 128 Nev. 192, 197, 275 P.3d 91, 94-95, n.2 (2012), <u>cert. denied</u>, 568 U.S. 1147, 133 S. Ct. 988 (2013) ("under the current statutory scheme the time bar in NRS 34.726 is *mandatory*, *not discretionary*" (emphasis added)).

Even "a stipulation by the parties cannot empower a court to disregard the mandatory procedural default rules." <u>State v. Haberstroh</u>, 119 Nev. 173, 180, 69 P.3d 676, 681 (2003); <u>accord</u>, <u>Sullivan v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 537, 540, n.6, 96 P.3d 761, 763-64, n.6 (2004) (concluding that a petition was improperly treated as timely and that a stipulation to the petition's timeliness was invalid). The <u>Sullivan</u> Court "expressly conclude[d] that the district court should have denied [a] petition" because it was procedurally barred. <u>Sullivan</u>, 120 Nev. at 542, 96 P.3d at 765.

The district courts have zero discretion in applying procedural bars because to allow otherwise would undermine the finality of convictions. In holding that "[a]pplication of the statutory procedural default rules to post-conviction habeas petitions is mandatory," the <u>Riker</u> Court noted:

> Habeas corpus petitions that are filed many years after conviction are an unreasonable burden on the criminal justice system. The necessity for a workable system dictates that there must exist a time when a criminal conviction is final.

<u>Riker</u>, 121 Nev. at 231, 112 P.3d at 1074.

Moreover, strict adherence to the procedural bars promotes the best interests of the parties:

At some point, we must give finality to criminal cases. Should we allow [petitioner's] post-conviction relief proceeding to go forward, we would encourage defendants to file groundless petitions for federal habeas corpus relief, secure in the knowledge that a petition for post-conviction relief remained indefinitely available to them. This situation would prejudice both the accused and the State since the interests of both the petitioner and the government are best served if post-conviction claims are raised while the evidence is still fresh.

Colley v. State, 105 Nev 235, 236, 773 P.2d 1229, 1230 (1989) (citations omitted).

b. Appellant's Substantive Claims Are Waived for Failure to Raise on Direct Appeal

All of Appellant's claims were appropriate and available for direct appeal. Substantive claims are waived as they should have been raised on direct appeal. NRS 34.724(2)(a); NRS 34.810(1)(b); <u>Evans v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 609, 646-47, 29 P.3d 498, 523 (2001); <u>Frankling v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994), disapproved on other grounds, <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 115 Nev. 148, 979 P.2d 222 (1999).

Appellant claims he was denied his right under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution to effective trial counsel. Appellant's Opening Brief (hereinafter "AOB") at 2. Appellant claims since the evidence presented at trial supported a theory of voluntary manslaughter and defense counsel put forth an untenable argument for voluntary manslaughter, Appellant's trial counsel was ineffective. AOB at 34-42. Appellant's complaint is barred as waived. Appellant's claim was available for direct appeal, and therefore, cannot be considered by this Court. Thus, Appellant's substantive claim is waived for failing to raise it on direct appeal.

c. Appellant's Second Petition is Time Barred.

NRS 34.726(1) states that "unless there is good cause shown for delay, a petition that challenges the validity of a judgment or sentence must be filed within 1 year after entry of the judgment of conviction or, if an appeal has been taken from the judgment, within 1 year after the Supreme Court issues its remittitur." The one-year time bar is strictly construed and enforced. <u>Gonzales v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 590, 593, 53 P.3d 901, 902 (2002). The Nevada Supreme Court has held that the "clear and unambiguous" provisions of NRS 34.726(1) demonstrate an "intolerance toward perpetual filing of petitions for relief, which clogs the court system and undermines the finality of convictions." <u>Pellegrini v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 860, 875, 34 P.3d 519, 529 (2001).

Remittitur issued from Appellant's direct appeal on May 25, 2017. 9AA1799. Therefore, Appellant had until May 22, 2018, to file a timely habeas petition. Appellant filed the second petition on September 27, 2022. 10AA1828. As such, this second Petition is timed barred.

///

13

d. The State Affirmatively Pleads Laches.

NRS 34.800 recognizes that a post-conviction petition should be dismissed when delay in presenting issues would prejudice the State in responding to the petition or in retrial. NRS 34.800(1). NRS 34.800(2) creates a rebuttable presumption of prejudice to the State if "[a] period of five years [elapses] between the filing of a judgment of conviction, an order imposing sentence of imprisonment or a decision on direct appeal of a judgment of conviction and the filing of a petition challenging the validity of a judgment of conviction." See also Groesbeck v. Warden, 100 Nev. 259, 260, 679 P.2d 1268, 1269 (1984), superseded by statute as recognized by, Hart v. State, 116 Nev. 558, 1 P.3d 969 (2000) ("petitions that are filed many years after conviction are an unreasonable burden on the criminal justice system. The necessity for a workable system dictates that there must exist a time when a criminal conviction is final."). To invoke the presumption, the statute requires that the State specifically plead presumptive prejudice. NRS 34.800(2).

More than five years has passed since remittitur issued from Appellant's direct appeal on May 22, 2017. 9AA1773. As such, the State pleads statutory laches under NRS 34.800(2) and prejudice under NRS 34.800(1) against the Second Petition, which was not filed until September 27, 2022. After such a passage of time, the State is prejudiced in its ability to answer the Second Petition because the State will be forced to track down witnesses who may have died or retired in order to prove a case that is several years old. Assuming witnesses are available, their memories will have certainly faded and will not present to a jury the same way they did in 2015.

e. Appellant's Second Petition is Barred as an Abuse of Writ.

Appellant's Second Petition is procedurally barred because it is an abuse of the writ. NRS 34.810(2) reads:

A second or successive petition *must be dismissed* if the judge or justice determines that it fails to allege new or different grounds for relief and that the prior determination was on the merits or, if new and different grounds are alleged, the judge or justice finds that the failure of the petitioner to assert those grounds in a prior petition constituted an abuse of the writ.

(emphasis added).

Second or successive petitions are petitions that either (1) fail to allege new or different grounds for relief and the grounds have already been decided on the merits or that (2) allege new or different grounds, but a judge or justice finds that the petitioner's failure to assert those grounds in a prior petition would constitute an abuse of the writ. Second or successive petitions will only be decided on the merits if the petitioner can show good cause and prejudice. NRS 34.810(3); Lozada v. State, 110 Nev. 349, 358, 871 P.2d 944, 950 (1994); see also Hart v. State, 116 Nev. 558, 563–64, 1 P.3d 969, 972 (2000) (holding that "where a defendant previously has sought relief from the judgment, the defendant's failure to identify all grounds for

15

relief in the first instance should weigh against consideration of the successive motion.").

The Nevada Supreme Court has stated: "Without such limitations on the availability of post-conviction remedies, prisoners could petition for relief in perpetuity and thus abuse post-conviction remedies. In addition, meritless, successive, and untimely petitions clog the court system and undermine the finality of convictions." Lozada, 110 Nev. at 358, 871 P.2d at 950. The Nevada Supreme Court recognizes that "[u]nlike initial petitions which certainly require a careful review of the record, successive petitions may be dismissed based solely on the face of the petition." Ford v. Warden, 111 Nev. 872, 882, 901 P.2d 123, 129 (1995). In other words, if the claim or allegation was previously available with reasonable diligence, it is an abuse of the writ to wait to assert it in a later petition. McClesky v. Zant, 499 U.S. 467, 497–98 (1991). Application of NRS 34.810(2) is mandatory. See Riker, 121 Nev. at 231, 112 P.3d at 1074.

Appellant's repeated filings of petitions creates the very issue that the Nevada Supreme Court addressed in <u>Lozada</u>. Appellant's prior petition has been denied, yet Appellant's continual filing of pleadings serves only to "clog the court system and undermine the finality" of his conviction. <u>Lozada</u>, 110 Nev. at 358, 871 P.2d at 950. Raising a new ground for relief in successive habeas petition is an abuse of writ.

16

Therefore, this Court should affirm the District Court's denial of Appellant's Second Petition.

II. <u>BROWN</u> SHOULD NOT BE OVERRULED.

Appellant claims that the Nevada Supreme Court's decision in <u>Brown</u> was wrong and should be overturned. AOB at 25. Appellant is incorrect.

The Nevada Supreme Court has repeatedly held that "[w]e are loath to depart from the doctrine of stare decisis' and will overrule precedent only if there are compelling reasons to do so." City of Reno v. Howard, 130 Nev. 110, 113-14, 318 P.3d 1063, 1065 (2014) (quoting Armenta-Carpio v. State, 129 Nev. 531, 398, 306 P.3d 395, 398 (2013))." Appellant's failure to meaningfully address this standard is fatal to his demand to overrule Brown. Maresca v. State, 103 Nev. 669, 673, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987) ("It is appellant's responsibility to present relevant authority and cogent argument; issues not so presented need not be addressed by this court."). "Vertical stare decisis is absolute and requires" the district court to adhere to Nevada Supreme Court precedent. See United States v. Guillen, 995 F.3d 1095, 1114 (10th Cir. 2021). Once the Nevada Supreme Court "has adopted a rule, standard, or interpretation, [the district court] must use that same rule, standard, or interpretation in later cases." See id.

Under Nevada state law, a petitioner has no constitutional right to postconviction counsel and a petitioner cannot rely on ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel to excuse his procedural defaults. <u>Brown</u>, 130 Nev. at 569, 331 P.3d at 870; <u>McKague</u>, 112 Nev. at 164-65, 912 P.2d at 258; <u>Chappell v. State</u>, 501 P.3d 935, 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 83 (2021).

A federal habeas court may hear a substantial claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel even if that same claim is barred under state law requiring that claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel be raised in an initial-review collateral proceeding if there was no counsel or counsel in that proceeding was ineffective. <u>Martinez v. Ryan</u>, 566 U.S. 1, 17-18, 132 S. Ct. 1309, 1320-21 (2012). The Nevada Supreme Court held that <u>Martinez</u> only addressed whether an ineffective assistance of counsel claim may provide good cause for procedural default in *federal habeas proceedings*, but not in state court proceedings. <u>Brown</u>, 130 Nev. at 569; 331 P.3d at 870.

The Nevada Supreme Court expressly rejected adopting the rule fashioned under <u>Martinez</u>, as it "conflict[s] with the current statutory post-conviction scheme, impose[s] significant costs, and undermine[s] the finality of judgments of conviction." <u>Brown</u>, 130 Nev. at 576, 331 P.3d 875. By distinguishing <u>Martinez</u>, this Court held "[o]ur case law clearly forecloses <u>Brown's</u> contention. We have consistently held that the ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel in a noncapital case may not constitute "good cause" to excuse procedural defaults. This is because there is no constitutional or statutory right to the assistance of counsel in noncapital post-conviction proceedings, and 'where there is no right to counsel there can be no deprivation of effective assistance of counsel.'" <u>Brown</u>, 130 Nev. at 569, 331 P.3d 870 (quoting <u>McKague</u>, 112 Nev. at 164-165, 912 P.2d at 258).

Appellant fails to cite any relevant legal authority to support his claim to overturn <u>Brown</u>. Appellant cites <u>Martinez</u> and <u>Shinn v. Ramirez</u>, 142 S. Ct. 1718, 212 L.Ed.2d 713 (2022), but they do not support his argument. As shown, <u>Martinez</u> is irrelevant to this case because Appellant is in state court, not in federal habeas proceeding. Appellant contends that the Nevada Supreme Court should give due regard to <u>Martinez</u>. AOB at 33. It is unclear *how* Appellant believes this is grounds for overruling <u>Brown</u>, as the <u>Brown</u> Court clearly analyzed <u>Martinez</u>, then extensively outlined the distinctions between the cases and between the procedural rules governing each. <u>Brown</u>, 130 Nev. at 570-75, 331 P.3d 870-74 (distinguishing between the principles underlying the federal procedural default doctrine and state procedural bars).

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